
      
 

    

 

CITY OF BELLEVUE 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

Summary Minutes of Extended Study Session 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 10, 2019 Council Conference Room 

6:00 p.m. Bellevue, Washington 

 

 

PRESENT: Mayor Chelminiak, Deputy Mayor Robinson, and Councilmembers Lee, 

Nieuwenhuis, Robertson, Stokes, and Zahn  

 

ABSENT: None. 

 

1. Executive Session 

 

The meeting was called to order at 6:06 p.m., with Mayor Chelminiak presiding. There was no 

Executive Session. 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

   

Mayor Chelminiak indicated that he would like to add a couple of announcements before moving 

to Oral Communications. 

 

→ Councilmember Stokes moved to approve the agenda, as amended, and Deputy Mayor 

Robinson seconded the motion. 

 

→ The motion carried by a vote of 7-0. 

 

City Manager Brad Miyake introduced the City’s new Transportation Director, Andrew 

Singelakis. Mr. Miyake noted that Mr. Singelakis most recently served as the Transportation 

Director for Washington County, Oregon.  

 

Mayor Chelminiak said that he, Deputy Mayor Robinson, Councilmember Stokes, and 

Councilmember Zahn attended the opening of 30 Bellevue, a new low-income development by 

Imagine Housing at St. Luke’s Lutheran Church. The project provides 63 housing units with 16 

affordable to households earning 30 percent of the area median income (AMI), 31 units 

affordable at 40 percent AMI, 15 units at 60 percent AMI, and one unit that is affordable to 80 

percent AMI.  



2 
June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 
 

   

 

 

3. Oral Communications 

 

(a) Steve Kasner expressed his opposition to Transportation Facilities Plan Project 158, a 

bike lane and sidewalk project on SE 16th Street. He recalled that the Transportation 

Commission has indicated twice that it is not interested in the project. He said the Lake 

Hills area has two other bike corridors. He expressed support for the Vision Zero 

program adopted by the Council. He said SE 16th Street is steep with terrible sight lines. 

Mr. Kasner asked the Council to look at all of the information and to please remove TFP-

158 from further consideration. He said the project is outdated and no longer fits the 

needs of the neighborhood. He thanked Councilmembers for their service. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak noted that no member of the Transportation Commission is authorized to 

speak for the Commission unless it has expressly authorized the member’s communication. An 

individual member is free to voice a position, oral or written, on any matter after making it clear 

that the member is not representing the City or the Commission.  

 

(b) Vic Bishop said he is a member of the Transportation Commission but speaking as an 

individual. He said he wanted to explain why he voted on May 23 against forwarding the 

Transportation Facilities Plan (TFP) to the Council for approval. He said the 

environmental analysis indicates that the City’s adopted traffic standards will fail under 

the plan. He asked the Council to send the TFP planning process back to the Commission 

for revisions that will improve traffic conditions. He expressed concern regarding the 

traffic congestion at intersections. 

 

(c) Ian Morrison, representing Bellevue Technology Center, said he agreed with the Planning 

Commission’s recommendation to not move the BTC Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

(CPA) forward for further review. Mr. Morrison acknowledged that their site is too large 

and complicated, with a significant number of stakeholders, to be handled through the 

CPA process. He believes there are areas of agreement between the center and the 

neighborhood. Mr. Morrison suggested addressing the redevelopment of the site through 

the neighborhood planning process. He indicated that the applicant will be withdrawing 

the CPA proposal. 

 

(d) Hassan Dhananjaya, speaking on behalf of the East Bellevue Community Council, said 

the EBCC recommends the removal of the TFP-158 project (SE 16th Street sidewalks and 

bike lanes). At the July 2014 EBCC meeting, a Councilmember expressed concern about 

the steep slope of the street. At the November 2014 meeting, the project was discussed by 

the EBCC and there was a consensus opposing the project. Mr. Dhananjaya said there has 

been consistent opposition to the project from the public. At the Transportation 

Commission’s May 24, 2018, meeting, the Commission voted to approve staff’s 

recommendation but to exclude TFP-158. At multiple meetings, including May 12, 2016 

and March 9, 2017, the EBCC asked the Transportation Commission to remove the 

project from the TFP. Mr. Dhananjaya said the EBCC feels bicyclists are better served 

using the designated lanes on Lake Hills Boulevard and SE 24th Street. The EBCC asked 

the Commission on April 12, 2018 to remove TFP-158. The EBCC concluded, based on 



                    3 

                    June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 

 

  

the analysis, that having a bike lane on SE 16th Street would be inconsistent with the 

Vision Zero program.  

  

4. Study Session Items 

 

 (a) Council Business and New Initiatives 

 

→ Councilmember Robertson moved to excuse Councilmember Zahn from the June 17, 

2019 Council meeting. Councilmember Stokes seconded the motion.  

 

→ The motion carried by a vote of 7-0. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak questioned the need to formally excuse Councilmembers from meetings, 

noting that they are allowed three absences per year.  

 

 (b) Choices for People with Disabilities Plan 

 

Kim Indurkar, Community Services Supervisor, presented the Choices for People with 

Disabilities Plan. She said the City began providing adaptive recreation activities for individuals 

with disabilities in the 1970s. The Highland Community Center was designated as the adaptive 

recreation center in the 1980s, and adaptive programs were expanded to other facilities in the 

1990s.  

 

Ms. Indurkar said the plan addresses inclusion, creating more choices, staff training, outreach, 

and expanded programming. She said inclusion refers to developing and maintaining accessible, 

barrier-free facilities, parks, and programs. The plan calls for expanding the options and 

locations for adaptive recreation and skill-based programming. Ms. Indurkar said the City’s 

outreach indicates that there might be opportunities to serve individuals who are not currently 

being served, including those with anxiety disorders and/or post-traumatic stress disorder 

(PTSD). Staff is exploring potential partnerships with veterans and mental health organizations.  

 

The adaptive recreation program provides opportunities for individuals to stay connected within 

the community and helps to build skills. Adaptive recreation sites and programs in Bellevue 

include the Highland Community Center, Northwest Arts Center, Robinswood Tennis Center, 

Bellevue Aquatics Center, and Bellevue Youth Theatre.  

 

Councilmember Robertson thanked staff for the presentation and noted that the adaptive 

recreation program is another way that the City welcomes the world and promotes inclusion. She 

encouraged the expansion of family restrooms and adult changing tables in public facilities. She 

noted that Liepaja, Latvia, one of Bellevue’s Sister Cities, has a number of adaptive features in 

its parks. She said she appreciates the partnerships involved in the City’s programs.  

 

Deputy Mayor Robinson said she is proud of Bellevue’s programming for individuals of all 

abilities. She thanked staff for the emphasis on inclusion, which she described as an equitable 

sense of belonging. Responding to Ms. Robinson, Ms. Indurkar said staff participates in ability 

fairs, resource fairs, job fairs, and other events to publicize the City’s programs and to learn 



4 
June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 
 

   

 

about additional needs in the community. Ms. Indurkar noted that those contacts identified the 

potential for partnering with organizations to address anxiety and PTSD.  

 

Councilmember Stokes thanked staff for their work. He noted there are approximately 16,000 

Bellevue residents with disabilities. Responding to Mr. Stokes, Ms. Indurkar said the City does 

not have statistics on the number of children or students. However, she said that the partnership 

with the Bellevue School District will be helpful to the City’s outreach efforts and will likely 

identify additional needs and opportunities. 

 

Councilmember Lee said he is pleased that the City provides programs and resources for people 

with disabilities, and he looks forward to expanding those opportunities. 

 

Councilmember Zahn thanked staff for their work. She noted that 15 percent of Bellevue’s 

residents above age 5 have a disability. She expressed support for the focus on inclusion and 

creating a sense of community for everyone. Responding to Ms. Zahn, Ms. Indurkar confirmed 

that parks staff coordinate with the diversity program staff in the City Manager’s Office. Ms. 

Zahn expressed support for the suggestion to try to recruit individuals with disabilities to the 

City’s Boards and Commissions. 

 

Responding to Councilmember Nieuwenhuis, Ms. Indurkar confirmed that Bellevue is a leader in 

its Choices for People with Disabilities Plan and its inclusion process. She said Bellevue staff has 

provided presentations to professional conferences and to other cities that are looking for 

guidance in establishing their own programs. In further response, Ms. Indurkar said the City 

focuses on partnering with trusted organizations that are already serving individuals with 

disabilities. 

 

Responding to Mayor Chelminiak, Ms. Indurkar said the term “invisible disabilities” refers to 

conditions that are not readily observed by others (e.g., anxiety, mental illness). Mr. Chelminiak 

questioned whether the program serves individuals experiencing illnesses typically associated 

with older adults, including Parkinson’s disease and dementia.  

 

Shelley Brittingham, Assistant Director for the Parks and Community Services Department, said 

the North Bellevue Community/Senior Center has applied for a grant through the King County 

veterans and human services levy to provide programs for individuals experiencing memory loss. 

She noted that the Bellevue Network on Aging has supported some of the memory cafes held at 

local businesses. In further response to Mr. Chelminiak, Ms. Brittingham confirmed that staff is 

working to expand adaptive recreation opportunities to community centers and other facilities.  

 

Mayor Chelminiak thanked staff for their work and noted compliments he has heard from the 

community regarding the City’s adaptive recreation programming. 

 

 (c) Transmittal of the Transportation Commission Recommendation to Adopt the 

2019-2030 Transportation Facilities Plan (TFP) 

 

City Manager Brad Miyake introduced discussion regarding the Transportation Commission’s 

recommendation to adopt the 2019-2030 Transportation Facilities Plan (TFP). He said staff is 

seeking Council direction to: 1) return with legislation taking formal action on the TFP, 2) return 



                    5 

                    June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 

 

  

with information and options for a transportation study in the Overlake, Northeast Bellevue, and 

East Bellevue areas, 3) return with information and options to update the Transportation Impact 

Fee Rate Schedule, and 4) prepare a budget request for the 2021-2022 budget cycle to develop a 

Transportation Master Plan. 

 

Mike Ingram, Senior Planner, said the Transportation Facilities Plan (TFP) is a 12-year plan to 

prioritize projects and to conduct an environmental review to evaluate the impacts of land use on 

the transportation system and other elements of the environment. The capacity projects in the 

TFP form the basis for the Transportation Impact Fee Program. Projects in the TFP are 

ultimately moved into the seven-year Capital Investment Program (CIP) Plan for funding and 

implementation.  

 

Mr. Ingram described the process to identify and prioritize projects and to generate public 

involvement. The Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) was published on 

March 15, 2019. The Transportation Commission voted on May 23, 2019 to recommend 

approval of the 2019-2030 TFP by the City Council. Mr. Ingram said that adoption of the plan is 

anticipated for July 15. 

 

There are 50 projects in the recommended TFP. Of those, 11 are fully funded in the 2019-2025 

CIP Plan and 13 projects are to be completed in conjunction with other projects. There are an 

additional 16 high-priority projects as well as 10 pedestrian-bike projects carried over from the 

current TFP. The total project costs are $388.1 million. The City conducted a programmatic 

environmental analysis as required under the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA). The final 

EIS will be issued soon, and individual TFP projects are evaluated further at the time of project 

implementation. 

 

Mr. Ingram said the CIP network and the TFP network were compared in terms of their impact in 

the 2030 horizon. Staff studied approximately 120 locations throughout Bellevue to measure 

traffic volumes. Of those, approximately one-third show little change under the TFP and two-

thirds demonstrate up to a 10 percent increase in traffic volumes. The BelRed area reflects the 

largest anticipated increase in traffic. In terms of areawide level of service (LOS) at intersections, 

11 mobility management areas (MMAs) are projected to be in compliance with standards and 

three MMAs are projected to be out of compliance by 2030. The latter are MMA 2 in Bridle 

Trails, MMA 6 in Northeast Bellevue, and MMA 9 in East Bellevue. Mr. Ingram highlighted a 

set of strategies proposed by the Transportation Commission and staff to continue to monitor 

compliance with LOS standards, consider further capacity improvements in future TFP updates, 

evaluate the potential for operational changes at intersections, continue to pursue transportation 

demand management measures, and to coordinate with the City of Redmond to thoroughly 

review land use and transportation plans in the Overlake, NE Bellevue, and East Bellevue 

MMAs.  

 

Mr. Ingram described TFP-158, a sidewalk and bike lane project on SE 16th Street between 148th 

Avenue SE and 156th Avenue SE. There has been mixed feedback from the community regarding 

the project, and it is not included in the Transportation Commission’s recommendation. Mr. 

Ingram said that staff continues to recommend the project. He said the bike lane project is part of 

Bellevue’s key east-west bicycle corridor as well as a segment of the Lake to Lake Trail.  



6 
June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 
 

   

 

 

Transportation Commission Chair Lei Wu said the Commission voted against supporting TFP-

158 due to mixed feedback, including strong opposition by some, regarding the project.  

 

Eric Miller, Capital Programming Manager, described the Transportation Impact Fee program. 

The proposed TFP includes 15 impact fee projects. The preliminary analysis indicates that the 

TFP will continue to support the current impact fee rate schedule, which was adopted in 2015 

and includes a three percent annual administrative increase. The 2019 base fee per trip generated 

is $5,139. The maximum allowable fee under the proposed TFP ranges from $12,500 to $17,500 

for evening peak hour trips. The significant increase in the fees is due to the inclusion of debt 

service costs (required by the City Code), professional trip generation standards, and increased 

project costs.  

 

Chair Wu presented the Transportation Commission’s recommendation. The Commission voted 

4-2 on May 23 to recommend the Council’s adoption of the 2019-2030 TFP. The Commission 

determined that the transportation planning process needs to be updated to accommodate current 

and anticipated growth.  

 

Ms. Wu said the Commission unanimously approved a recommendation that the City develop a 

Transportation Master Plan with the following features: 1) identify the transportation 

infrastructure system and the City’s plans for improvements, consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan, 2) identify systematic strategies to facilitate modal integration and to address modal 

conflicts, 3) update the concurrency process to better address growth, 4) address the impacts of 

regional transportation patterns on Bellevue streets, and 5) provide performance measurement to 

collect data and to inform the community.  

 

Mr. Ingram said staff supports the proposal to develop a Transportation Master Plan. He 

requested Council direction regarding the items noted at the beginning of the presentation as well 

as whether to include TFP-158 (SE 16th Street sidewalk and bike lane project). 

 

Councilmember Lee, liaison to the Transportation Commission, thanked staff and the 

Commission for their work. He expressed support for the recommendation to create a 

Transportation Master Plan.  

 

Councilmember Nieuwenhuis asked whether Amazon’s announcement about moving to 

Bellevue was taken into consideration. Mr. Ingram said the City’s planning efforts anticipate an 

increase of 5.3 million square feet of office space in the Downtown by 2030. Responding to Mr. 

Nieuwenhuis regarding the Metro reserve account, Mr. Ingram said staff is not programming all 

of the funds due to a number of unknown factors (e.g., levy funding). He said the Metro 

Connects reserve is $4 million over 12 years. This is the first time Metro has proposed capital 

dollars to support infrastructure in Bellevue.  

 

Responding to Mr. Nieuwenhuis regarding community opposition to the SE 16th Street bike lane 

and sidewalk project, Mr. Ingram said Puget Sound Energy has a plan to build a power line on 

the road connecting from 148th Avenue SE to the substation on 156th Avenue SE. He said the 

original idea was that the two projects should be developed at the same time. However, the 

projects can be developed independently.  



                    7 

                    June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 

 

  

 

Mr. Miller noted that there was support in the community for TFP-158 as well.  

 

Councilmember Robertson thanked Chair Wu, Commission members, and staff for their work. 

Noting that the TFP is a financially constrained plan, she asked why there are projects on the 

TFP list that the City has no intention of implementing over the next 12 years. Mr. Ingram said 

that approximately $21.4 million are set aside for pedestrian-bike projects in the TFP. In 

identifying the high priority projects, staff did not feel there was the opportunity to further refine 

and select the highest priority projects for implementation. Staff determined it would be more 

appropriate for that to occur through a different process.  

 

Ms. Robertson reiterated her concern that certain projects are in the plan when they are not 

anticipated to be implemented within the 12-year period. She said impact fees require a private 

developer to build their portion of a road project, even if the remainder of the project is not built 

for more than 12 years. Mr. Ingram said that, if the project is in a long-range plan adopted by the 

Council, whether the project is or is not included in the TFP is not typically a decision point in 

terms of the development review conditions.  

 

Ms. Wu noted that the Transportation Commission reviews pedestrian and bike projects, which 

have different criteria than other transportation projects. She said the Commission supports the 

Metro Connects Plan, which has a goal of expanding bus service to better serve 70 percent of 

residents.  

 

Councilmember Zahn expressed support for holding a reserve for future ped-bike projects. 

 

Responding to Ms. Zahn, Ms. Wu said the recommended Overlake transportation study with the 

City of Redmond has a narrow scope. However, it might be necessary to broaden the scope to 

address issues that arise. Mr. Ingram said staff will provide options and a defined scope for 

Council consideration, if directed to pursue the recommendation.  

 

Ms. Zahn noted the letter received from the East Bellevue Community Council regarding the SE 

16th Street project. She questioned whether there was additional outreach by the EBCC to gather 

feedback from the community about that ped-bike corridor. She said she has heard from 

members of the public that the City did not conduct additional outreach. Mr. Ingram said the 

EBCC letter was received as comments on the draft TFP Supplemental EIS.  

 

Councilmember Stokes said it is important to keep pace with growth and to be as nimble as 

possible. He expressed support for the development of a Transportation Master Plan. However, 

he suggested focusing tonight on the TFP project list.  

 

Deputy Mayor Robinson thanked Chair Wu and staff for the presentation. Ms. Robinson asked 

about the plan for the Main Street bike lane between 100th Avenue and 116th Avenue, noting that 

the Council recently discussed a bike lane between Bellevue Way and 108th Avenue. Mr. Ingram 

said the route is part of the Lake to Lake Trail. The City’s plan is to implement incremental 

improvements as redevelopment occurs.  

 



8 
June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 
 

   

 

Responding to Deputy Mayor Robinson, Mr. Miller said impact fee funds cannot be used to 

address cut-through traffic surrounding development project areas. He confirmed that 

neighborhood transportation levy funds could be used for that type of project. 

 

In further response to Ms. Robinson, Mr. Ingram said staff continues to support TFP-158 

because the project met the evaluation criteria and provides a needed bike connection. Mr. Miller 

said the project was identified through a thorough citywide non-motorized planning process. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak said a number of local jurisdictions are requesting the CIP figures from Metro 

early enough to use in determining whether they will need to make an investment to pursue 

matching funds. He said the City of Bellevue is setting aside money in anticipation of matching 

grant opportunities. Ms. Wu said she serves on the King County transit advisory commission. 

She said there might be things the City can do to enhance access to transit stations and stops. 

 

Responding to Councilmember Lee, Mr. Ingram said Lake Hills Boulevard and SE 24th Street 

have east-west bike lanes.  

 

Councilmember Nieuwenhuis noted that Lake Hills Boulevard has heavy traffic and higher travel 

speeds. He said that he and his family prefer cycling on SE 16th Street.  

 

Responding to Mr. Nieuwenhuis, Chair Wu said the Transportation Commission regularly 

receives questions and feedback regarding traffic measures. She said the current bike network 

can be a challenge to navigate. Mr. Nieuwenhuis suggested working with local employers to 

solicit their input.  

 

Mr. Nieuwenhuis noted comments during earlier oral communications that a number of 

intersections do not meet level of service standards. Mr. Ingram said the City measures 

designated intersections that are considered to be critical to the overall system function.  

 

Mr. Nieuwenhuis thanked staff and the Transportation Commission for their hard work. 

 

Councilmember Robertson expressed support for the proposed Overlake transportation study and 

encouraged the development of a joint plan with the City of Redmond.  

 

Noting impact fees, Ms. Robertson said the Council discussion with the Transportation 

Commission in November referenced the use of MMLOS (Multimodal Level of Service) 

standards. She suggested that the Council determine whether to adopt that approach. Ms. 

Robertson expressed concern regarding the proposed increase in impact fees. She said the 

previous increase was controversial, and she encouraged public outreach. Mr. Ingram said the 

City will engage stakeholders as the Council provides direction on impact fees. 

 

Councilmember Robertson expressed support for the Transportation Master Plan and said she 

will need to understand the process, scope, outreach, timing, how it will be used, and how it will 

be coordinated.  

 

Chair Wu said the Transportation Commission wants to understand the key issues and growth 

impacts before the City outlines a process for developing the Transportation Master Plan.  



                    9 

                    June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 

 

  

 

Responding to Councilmember Zahn, Mr. Ingram said the intent of the Transportation Master 

Plan is to encompass all of the City’s transportation planning documents. Ms. Zahn said she likes 

the multimodal integration and compatibility aspect. Responding to Ms. Zahn, Ms. Wu said that 

some cities have a master plan while others do not.  

 

Councilmember Stokes asked how the City would address the safety concerns expressed by the 

public regarding TFP-158 (SE 16th Street bike lanes and sidewalks). Mr. Ingram said the 

engineering design process will study sight distances, traffic speeds, and other factors. He 

clarified that staff’s recommendation to support the project is based on a general need for the 

connection.  

 

Mr. Miller noted that, when Puget Sound Energy communicated its plan for adding facilities 

along the corridor, the Council authorized funding to complete the design to 60 percent. He said 

that design work was completed approximately six years ago.  

 

Mr. Stokes encouraged outreach to both residents and businesses regarding potential future 

increases in impact fees.  

 

Deputy Mayor Robinson concurred with Councilmember Stokes. She expressed support for the 

areas around development to be compensated for the impact of the development project. 

Responding to Ms. Robinson, Mr. Miller said the City’s fees are on the lower end compared to 

other cities. Mr. Miller said that impact fees fund capital improvements for improving vehicular 

capacity. In 2018, the City collected approximately $9.6 million in transportation impact fees. 

Occasionally the funds are refunded if the developer’s permit expires or under other 

circumstances. Mr. Miller said staff will follow up with more information. 

 

Responding to Mayor Chelminiak, Mr. Ingram said the 2009-2020 TFP indicated that the three 

MMAs identified above were projected to exceed LOS standards in 2020. However, the MMAs 

are currently well within the LOS standards. He said the City is improving the operation of its 

transportation system, and the City’s traffic model tends to over-predict or inflate future traffic 

volumes. Mr. Ingram said the City is refining and updating its model.  

 

In further response to Mr. Chelminiak, Mr. Miller said the design of the TFP-158 project 

estimated a cost of $5 million for all components of the project (sidewalks and bike lanes on both 

sides of SE 16th Street). However, the cost is likely higher today. Mr. Chelminiak observed that 

the project provides a missing link in the bike network. He noted that he would like to possibly 

consider other revenue sources for the Transportation Master Plan. Chair Wu encouraged 

addressing all transportation modes, including ride shares, in the plan. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak transitioned to discuss the requested Council direction, beginning with the 

TFP and whether to include TFP-158 (SE 16th Street project).  

 

Councilmember Zahn said the letter from the East Bellevue Community Council refers to 

suitability, convenience, topography, and visibility. She said the project is part of the ped-bike 

plan. She questioned whether there has been discussion about alternative bike corridors. She 



10 
June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 
 

   

 

asked whether the intent is to function as a facility for moving cyclists through Bellevue or as an 

amenity for neighborhood and community connections.  

 

Deputy Mayor Robinson said SE 16th Street is not currently safe for walking and cycling, and the 

project will benefit the community.  

 

Mayor Chelminiak recalled that the project was identified through the Neighborhood Investment 

Strategy process, and there was extensive public outreach regarding it and a number of other 

projects. He suggested that people consider whether they want the Bellevue of the 1960s or of 

2020. Mr. Chelminiak suggested removing the project if the City cannot commit to building it 

within the next two years. 

 

Councilmember Nieuwenhuis said the primary objective is safety, and he believes that the City 

can do better. He opined that it is important to improve pedestrian and bike safety on SE 16th 

Street. With the Puget Sound Energy project no longer a factor, he suggested moving forward 

with the City’s project. 

 

Councilmember Stokes concurred with Mr. Nieuwenhuis about the importance of safety and of 

providing a needed link in the ped-bike system. Mr. Stokes said the project will enhance the 

neighborhood while also benefitting the overall multimodal system. 

 

Councilmember Lee said the Transportation Commission recommended removing the project 

from the TFP. Given the safety issues, he supports moving forward with implementing the 

project in a timely manner.  

 

→ Deputy Mayor Robinson moved to direct staff to return with legislation for formal 

Council action to adopt the proposed 2019-2030 Transportation Facilities Plan (TFP), 

including project TFP-158 (SE 16th Street sidewalks and bike lanes). Councilmember Lee 

seconded the motion. 

 

→ The motion carried by a vote of 7-0. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak invited discussion regarding whether to direct staff to return with information 

and options for a transportation study in the Overlake, NE Bellevue, and East Bellevue areas.  

 

Councilmember Robertson expressed support for the study and for working with the City of 

Redmond, noting that the Growth Management Act (GMA) requires joint planning between 

jurisdictions.  

 

Mayor Chelminiak expressed an interest in the capacity and non-capacity projects that could be 

provided at the lowest cost with the greatest benefit. Mr. Miller said staff intends to provide 

information about potential resources for funding the study. He said the analysis and study of 

capacity projects can be funded with neighborhood transportation levy dollars.  

 

Councilmember Lee spoke in support of the proposed Overlake transportation study and noted 

the connection between the transportation system and land use development.  

 



                    11 

                    June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 

 

  

Councilmember Stokes expressed support for the suggested transportation study. As the BelRed 

corridor continues to develop, transportation demands will increase. He acknowledged the 

community’s concerns regarding development in Redmond at its Overlake border with Bellevue. 

He encouraged the consideration of traffic management alternatives and technologies. 

 

Councilmember Zahn suggested involving Microsoft, which is expanding its campus, and other 

businesses in the study process. Mr. Miller confirmed that the City is working with Microsoft 

and the City of Redmond. He noted his understanding that Microsoft’s next phase of 

development is anticipated for completion in 3-5 years.  

 

→ Deputy Mayor Robinson moved to direct staff to return to the Council with information 

and options for conducting a new transportation study of the Overlake, Northeast 

Bellevue, and East Bellevue areas. Councilmember Robertson seconded the motion. 

 

Responding to Councilmember Robertson, Mr. Miller said the proposed transportation study will 

consider known development but it will not forecast future potential land uses and zoning.  

 

→ The motion carried by a vote of 7-0. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak moved to discuss whether to update the Transportation Impact Fee Rate 

Schedule. Mr. Miller said staff would develop options for consideration by the Council. He said 

that one outdated feature of the existing schedule is the trip generation factor. Mr. Chelminiak 

noted the need for public outreach in the process.  

 

Councilmember Robertson said she is more comfortable with the concept of modifying trip 

generation rates than with increasing the impact fees. She suggested that the latter should be 

discussed during the next budget cycle. She said extensive public outreach will be needed in the 

consideration of changes. Ms. Robertson expressed support for using the Institute of 

Transportation Engineers (ITE) trip generation standards, which more accurately reflect the 

number of trips generated by a project. However, she feels it is not realistic to discuss significant 

fee increases this year.  

 

Councilmember Stokes said he is interested in a future conversation about the concept of growth 

paying for growth. However, he concurred with Councilmember Robertson’s suggestion to 

address trip generation rates. 

 

Mayor Chelminiak asked whether the impact fee calculations address vehicle trips versus 

multimodal trips (e.g., transit, carpool). Mr. Miller said the City’s model and the ITE standards 

help to evaluate the mode splits generated by different uses. One issue is whether there are 

transit-oriented development (TOD) nodes that should have a different trip generation rate. He 

said the City currently applies a lower trip generation rate for development in the Downtown due 

to multiple transportation mode options. Mr. Miller said the current model focuses more on 

vehicle trips than person trips.  

 



12 
June 10, 2019 Extended Study Session 

 
 

   

 

Mr. Chelminiak requested information on the relationship between impact fees and the new 

minimum parking requirements from the State for TOD areas. Mr. Miller said staff will include 

that in its analysis. 

 

→ Deputy Mayor Robinson moved to direct staff to return with information and options, 

including the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) trip generation standards, to 

consider updating the Transportation Impact Fee Rate Schedule. Councilmember Stokes 

seconded the motion.  

 

Responding to Councilmember Robertson, Mr. Miller confirmed that the impact fee schedule 

incorporates an inflation factor.  

 

→ The motion carried by a vote of 7-0. 

 

→ Councilmember Lee moved to direct staff to prepare a budget request for the 2021-2022 

budget cycle to develop a Transportation Master Plan. Councilmember Nieuwenhuis 

seconded the motion. 

 

→ The motion carried by a vote of 7-0. 

 

5. Council Discussion of Upcoming Items: None. 

 

6. Continued Oral Communications: None. 

 

At 9:25 p.m., Mayor Chelminiak declared the meeting adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

Karin Roberts, CMC 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

/kaw 


